# UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.





University of Twente Faculty for Behavioural, Management and Social Science Drienerlolaan 5 7522 NB Enschede, Netherlands WWU Münster Institut für Politikwissenschaft Scharnhorststraße 100 48151 Münster, Germany

Anna-Marlen Brellochs

Public Governance across Borders

**Bachelor** Thesis

# The place of evidence and societal values within the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany

First Supervisor: Guus Dix Second Supervisor: Shawn Donnelly Date of Submission: 30.06.2021 Date of Presentation: 01.07.2021

Word Count: 11,995



# Contents

Abstract				
1. Introduction				
2. Evidence-based Policymaking and Poststructuralism				
2.1. Definitions of Relevant Terms				
2.2. Evidence-based Policymaking				
2.3. Poststructuralism				
2.3.1. Foucauldian Post-structural Theory				
2.3.2. Feminist Post-structural Theory				
3. Methodology 12				
3.1. Case description and Case selection				
3.2. Method of Data Collection				
3.3. Method of Data Analysis				
4. Analysis				
4.1. Evidence-based Policy Theory				
4.2. Foucauldian Post-structural Theory 19				
4.3. Feminist Post-structural Theory				
4.4. Reflection				
5. Conclusion				
List of References				
Data Appendix				
Declaration of Own Work				

# Abstract

Pregnancy termination and abortion policies and their perception is still a highly contested topic on various levels of human experience and interaction. Abortion laws are under constant change throughout the whole world due to opposing evidential approaches and influential societal values. In Germany, abortion laws are of social and political relevance, but also an individually relevant topic for a lot of women. To address the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, the question of *What is the place of medical and biological scientific evidence, and societal values in the current* 

#### discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany?

can be asked. As differing theoretical basis theories on evidence-based policymaking, Foucauldian poststructuralism and feminist post-structuralism are used. As comprehensive research is necessary for such a complex topic, a critical discourse analysis is applied by analysing relevant newspaper articles, opinions pieces, party programs, church reports, and organisational statements gathering central evidential data and insights on societal values. The two central findings of this thesis are for once the minor role evidence plays compared to values, especially as the usage of biological scientific evidence depends on the underlying values actors have. And second, the current discourse is foremost influenced by conservative biopolitical, emancipatory and patriarchal values.

#### 1. Introduction

Pregnancy terminations<sup>1</sup> and abortion policies are without a doubt a current and historic issue which is constantly debated on a social, political, and scientific level. Pregnancy termination has been commonly practiced in most societies in the world throughout time, legally or illegally. The United Nations (2014), Levels, Sluiter and Need (2014) and Cook, Dickens and Bliss (1999) observe a liberalisation trend of abortion policies worldwide leading to increased legalisation and safer medical pregnancy termination possibilities. A central milestone for this global paradigm shift was the *International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD)* in Cairo in 1994, for which 179 countries gathered to create an "[...] ambitious agenda to deliver inclusive, equitable and sustainable global development." (United Nations Population Fund (UNPFA) 2014: viii). A focus was put on reproductive health and women's<sup>2</sup> rights as human rights, pushing for safe pregnancy termination options, while acknowledging maternal deaths due to unsafe abortions as a major risk for women's health. Access to safe pregnancy termination options have continuously been labelled as a human right by the World Health Organisation (WHO) and the Center for Reproductive Rights (2021). Later, the ICPD was continued by the *Nairobi Summit on ICPD25: Accelerating the Promise (ICPD25)* in 2019 (UNPFA 2020).

Though internationally perceived as revolutionary, the ICPD and ICPD25 did not incorporate a call for legalising pregnancy terminations but addressed the need for safe pregnancy termination options in countries where pregnancy termination is already legal: "[...] access to [...] services, including access to safe abortion services to the full extent of the law [...]" (UNFPA 2020: 57). Women's rights and pregnancy terminations are still contested as opponents of liberal abortion policies keep emphasising that the right to life of the unborn matters most (e.g., Overdick-Gulden 2012) and biological findings suggest that life already starts after nidation (e.g., Schweizerische Vereinigung für Straflosigkeit des Schwangerschaftsabbruchs (SVSS) n.d.). Finer and Fine (2013) notice pushback within some European countries. Especially Poland has a long tradition of limited abortion policies (Hussein, Cottingham, Nowicka & Kismodi 2018). Various authors also elaborate on restrictions of abortion policies within countries in the form of mandatory counselling and waiting time (e.g., Brown 2013). In Germany, for instance, pregnancy termination is illegal, though medically and legally possible within certain conditions. Pregnancy terminations are dealt with in sections 218 to 219b of the German Criminal Code (Strafgesetzbuch). Section 218 lists pregnancy terminations as illegal with the possibility of punishment with a penalty of imprisonment for a term of one to five years or a fine. Section 218a exempts from such penalty, if the pregnant woman herself requests pregnancy termination, got counselling at least three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this thesis, the term *pregnancy termination* is used to reduce possible previously established negative affiliations with the term *abortion*. However, related policies and laws are addressed as *abortion policies/ abortion laws*, as this is still the official terminology commonly used by judicial actors.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  In this thesis the term *women* is solely used as *cis-women*. Even though women are all people who identify as woman, in this paper, no data and information are gathered about women outside of a heteronormative understanding. Similarly, not all people who give birth are women. People with an uterus, outside of the heteronormative understanding of cis-women, are as well not under study in this thesis due to limited data and resources.

days prior to the appointment, and the pregnancy does not yet exceed 12 weeks. Section 219 of the German Criminal Code elaborates that counselling by a state-approved agency is mandatory. Section 219a also prohibits informing publicly about pregnancy terminations or claiming to support pregnancy terminations. In contrast to Sections 218a, 219 and 219a of the German Criminal Code, the WHO points out that, for instance, restrictive laws and "[...] unnecessary requirements, such as mandatory waiting periods, mandatory counselling, provision of misleading information [...] delay care [...]" (WHO 2021: para. 1) and are barriers to safe pregnancy terminations (WHO 2021).

In politics, abortion policies are officially based on scientific (i.e., medical and biological) evidence. Scholars of evidence-based policymaking (EBP) (e.g., Parkhurst 2017) suggest that evidence plays a central role in the justification of abortion policies but acknowledge that societal values or historical contingencies influence the current policy debate as well. Parkhurst shows that pregnancy termination is not mainly a topic of women's health, but rather a discussion "[...] of *rights* [sic!] – rights of women over their bodies or rights of the unborn." (Parkhurst 2017: 5). EBP theory itself focuses on the use of evidence but is limited in terms of providing understanding of values and contingencies beyond evidence and what kind of evidence is deemed relevant given these values. This thesis introduces post-structural theories to address that limit. Applying Foucauldian post-structural theory and feminist post-structural theory in addition to EBP theory can lead to a comprehensive picture of abortion policies in its wider discursive context in Germany. What is particularly relevant here is the Foucauldian concept of biopolitics which offers a direct understanding of current means and control of reproductive health in nation states. Additionally, post-structural feminist theory moves Foucault's concepts further to the role of patriarchal and emancipatory values at a discursive level. Feminist theory can be used to emphasise the role of varying societal values in the civil society's discursive battlefield.

To provide comprehensive answers on the connections and limitations of evidence and societal values within the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany a diagnostic research approach is taken. Critical discourse analysis (CDA) enables the questioning and challenging of social phenomena by asking for the place of evidence and values in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany (Wodak 2013). This makes it possible to understand and challenge the meaning of terms used in the broader debate on pregnancy termination in Germany that takes place in party programs, newspaper articles, opinion pieces, and statements by ethical, medical, and religious organisations.

This thesis can be considered scientifically relevant in the sense that it extends the answers that EBP theory can provide and refocuses the debate on values based on post-structural theory. At the same time, it is also relevant for non-academic purposes. Pregnancy termination is still highly contested all around the world. Restrictions on pregnancy terminations have concrete consequences for women not only as political and societal members, but also as private individuals. Therefore, understanding the kind of evidence that is used and the values that policymakers are influenced by, is not solely about the political

and theoretical dimension. It is as well about lived experiences and limitations of women, who must manoeuvre their individual circumstances.

To explore the correlations and interlockings between evidence and values within the current pregnancy termination discourse in Germany, the following research question can be asked:

What is the place of medical and biological scientific evidence, and societal values in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany?

Following, firstly relevant terms are clarified, and the theoretical base of this thesis is presented by focusing on EBP theory, Foucauldian post-structural theory, and feminist post-structural theory. Based on those, six hypotheses are established. Next, the methodology underlying the research of this thesis is elaborated and split into case description and case selection, method of data collection and method of data analysis. The following analysis is divided into four sections. The first three analyse the hypotheses based on the corresponding theory, and fourth a reflection of the analysis is offered. Finally, a conclusion and answer to the research question is provided.

#### 2. Evidence-based Policymaking and Poststructuralism

The following section defines relevant terms, including *pregnancy termination*, *discourses*, *scientific evidence*, and *values*. Following that, the theoretical framework of this thesis is introduced. EBP and its relevance and connection to pregnancy termination is elaborated before a focus is laid on post-structural theory. Next, Foucauldian post-structural theory and feminist post-structural theory and their appliance to pregnancy termination are explained.

#### 2.1. Definitions of Relevant Terms

First, the term *pregnancy termination* must be clarified as the central concept under study within this thesis. Pregnancy termination can be defined as "[...] the termination of pregnancy before the fetus is capable of survival outside the uterus." (Miller-Keane Encyclopedia n.d.: para. 1). Medically speaking the term refers to induced pregnancy termination, contrary to e.g., natural miscarriages (Miller-Keane Encyclopedia n.d.). Pregnancy termination can take various forms depending on the legal situation within each nation state (see section 1.).

*Discourses* are in the context of this thesis understood as language, speech, and manners of speaking, signifying that the meaning of what and in which way something is said matters. Discourses are also independent practices with their own dynamics, rules, and linkages. They are an entirety of linguistic and non-linguistic practices, as institutions, functions, and structures (Wilde 2014). This denotes that not only the context and intent is relevant, but that discourses can persevere and develop detached from individuals as societal, political, and legal practices as well. Discourses do not solely name and title actions, objects, and processes, but similarly create or change their meaning and materiality (Bublitz 2019).

Next, *scientific evidence* can be defined as information provided via scientific research that must fulfil several conditions to be reliable evidence. Scientific evidence must be deemed objective, unbiased, valid, reliable, accurate, peer-reviewed and met with professional consensus on its content. It is possible to say that most public, societal actors use scientific evidence to back their arguments and agenda. For that the original scientific evidence is interpreted and utilised (Saunders 2013). Within this thesis medical and biological evidence is central.

Last, (societal) *values* are defined as important and lasting beliefs and behaviours which are considered good, righteous, and desirable by a specific community, group, society, or culture. Values have

[...] a major influence on a person's behavior and attitude and serve as broad guidelines in all situations. [...] The value represents basic convictions that a specific mode of conduct or end-state of existence is personally or socially preferable to an opposite or converse mode of conduct or end-state of existence. (iEdu Note n.d.: para. 2, para. 3).

Thus, values are apparent within an area of tension between what is deemed right and wrong. Values can take different forms based on their context. In this thesis societal values are used as an umbrella term for patriarchal, emancipatory, scientific evidential, and biopolitical values.

#### 2.2. Evidence-based Policymaking

Evidence plays a big part in policymaking as it allows for a well-informed policymaking process. For this, EBP can be seen as a set of methods that uses scientific evidence to inform the policymaking process by aiming at a more rational and systematic decision-making process. The basis of EBP is the usage of rational analysis due to the premise that policies and policy decisions are better informed by scientific evidence. EBP theory however does not pursuit influencing policy outcomes and policy goals directly, but rather strives for informing the policymaking process via evidential arguments (Sutcliffe & Court 2005). Supporters of EBP argue that clear scientific evidence enables the usage of reliable information that is particularly relevant for emotionally charged and contested topics (Global Governance Programme 2018). EBP finds great resonance for politics nowadays and especially within the European Union it can be said, that "[...] the use of science as input to policy is kept in high consideration." (Saltelli & Giampietro 2017: 62).

Following this, the policymaking process that leads to the adoption of particular abortion policies should follow clear and coherent medical and biological scientific evidence. However, the debate about pregnancy termination and abortion policies is still highly contested, with opposing evidential viewpoints observable. Faúndes and Shah (2015) show that unsafe pregnancy termination options are still a major cause for maternal deaths and accountable for 14,5% of all maternal deaths globally. Annually this accounts approximately for 22.000 to 44.000 women dying due to unsafe pregnancy terminations (SVSS n.d.). The WHO draws on medical evidence to emphasise that nearly all maternal deaths occur in countries with restricted abortion policies (WHO 2021).

Opponents of pregnancy terminations, on the contrary, often reference to biological evidence that suggests that human life already starts with fertilisation or the first few days after. From a biological viewpoint, after six to 12 days nidation takes place, organs start to develop after three weeks, and rudimentary blood circulation begins (Beier 2002). Similarly, a common reference to support protection of all unborn life by advocates of restrictive abortion policies (e.g., Ärzte für das Leben e.V. n.d.) is *The Embryo Protection Act* (Embryonenschutzgesetz) within the German Criminal Code. It protects unborn life from mistreatment and defines in section eight that a human embryo is capable of development 24 hours after nuclear fusion and must be treated based on that standard. In connection to articles one and two German Basic Law (Art. 1, 2 Grundgesetz (GG)), it is argued that the dignity of such defined human unborn life is inviolable and has the basic right to life.

Critiques of EBP explain such diverting approaches to pregnancy termination by arguing that weighing and incorporating competing options and opinions in a context-dependent and value-laden world is necessary to generate balanced policies. A sole evidential focus is insufficient (Greenhalgh & Russell 2009). Cairney and Oliver also state that it is impossible to detach evidence from subjective interpretations and opinions. The authors pinpoint challenges such as effective actors combining "[...] evidence with manipulative emotional appeals to influence the policy agenda [...]" (Cairney & Oliver 2017: 1). Evidence can end up being interpreted, used, and presented based on the tendency of the researcher (Head 2013). Overall, the WHO mentions that contesting approaches and stigma prevent safe pregnancy termination possibilities for women (WHO 2021).

Especially, in the context of pregnancy termination, authors within and outside EBP theory suggest that scientific (medical and biological) evidence or science itself cannot provide a full answer to the question of what aspects influence the current discourses on pregnancy termination (Parkhurst 2017; SVSS n.d.). Parkhurst acknowledges the limitations of policymaking purely based on evidence for social, and highly contested topics, such as pregnancy termination (Parkhurst 2017). For example, scholars (e.g., Chesney-Lind & Hadi (2017); Kennedy (2001)) claim, that questions regarding characteristics of a human being and what makes humans human, are matters that science cannot answer on its own. A critical trade-off between denying women autonomy as a basic human right, and protecting unborn life is apparent. Hence, ethical, and moral aspects must be considered (e.g., SVSS n.d.). After all, it is argued that pregnancy termination comes down to societal values about it and what is individually believed to be relevant in that area of conflict and discourse (Parkhurst 2017).

In this context, it is expected to find the above-mentioned evidential lines of argumentation by both, supporters and opponents, of liberal abortion laws within the data under study. In detail, it can be presupposed that similar scientific evidence is used in different ways and different contexts depending on the specific values of the individual or group presenting their argumentation. EBP theory provides a coherent framework to analyse the usage, specific way of incorporation, and importance of medical and biological scientific evidence in the discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany by different actors. For this, it is possible to establish the following hypotheses:

*H1: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany use and interpret biological scientific evidence based on their values to legitimise their claims.* 

H2: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany frame medical scientific evidence in line with their values to legitimise their claims.

#### 2.3. Poststructuralism

As was already shown, aspects besides evidence seem to play a significant role within the pregnancy termination debate in Germany. EBP theory is limited in providing comprehensive answers to the question of restrictive abortion policies and the perception of pregnancy termination in Germany. To fill this theoretical gap of EBP theory, post-structuralism offers interesting theoretical concepts. To start with, scholars such as Chesney-Lind and Hadi (2017) or Kennedy (2001) argue that, inter alia, patriarchal and power structures should be included when studying pregnancy termination as explanatory factors for the battles that supporters of progressive abortion policies face. For this, insights of Foucauldian post-structural theory and Feminist post-structural theory are outlined.

#### 2.3.1. Foucauldian Post-structural Theory

For Foucault, the value of life and control over the population in countries governed by neoliberal governments are central components to secure their status and population. To explain such notions the Foucauldian concept of biopolitics and its impact on reproductive health is explained before elaborating on their role for pregnancy termination in Germany.

Overall, it is possible to say that Foucault's theoretical and political focus, especially in his earlier works (Kristensen 2013), was on "[...] issues through which phenomena of power are manifested in terms of normalization, control, embodiment, subjectivation, and rationalization connected to the social life of concrete individuals and communities." (Losoncz & Takács 2015: 2). Foucault's analysis of power as an institutionalised structure was aimed to understand and comprehend, inter alia, relations of (re-) production, sexual relations, and family relations within societal contexts (Losoncz & Takács 2015).

Following that, biopolitics is a term Foucault used to describe the way governments deal with and conceptualise problems of the population of nation states, such as its health, hygiene, birth-rate, reproduction, or longevity (Steph 2021). Therefore, "[...] biopolitics can be understood as a political rationality which takes the administration of life and populations as its subject [...]" (Adams 2017: para. 3). In *The birth of biopolitics* Foucault argues, that controlling life is central, not controlling death anymore (Foucault, Senellart, Ewald & Fontana 2008). Here, biopolitics are used "[...] to ensure, sustain, and multiply life, to put this life in order [...]" (Foucault & Hurley 2008: 138). Biopolitics were firstly identified by Foucault in the 18<sup>th</sup> century when governments of nation states wanted to address and deal with already-mentioned issues related to health and population. Biopolitics were applied to provide grounds for the development of health policies which resulted in means to treat the living social body (Steph 2021). In recent history, biopolitics reached its peak during the era of national socialism,

when all means were justified and oriented at the value of life of a specific people and population (Foucault, Senellart, Ewald & Fontana 2008).

In the centre of biopolitics is the modification and manipulation of biological aspects of human life. This is closely connected to questions regarding control and regulation of health of the population, and in the context of this thesis especially reproductive health in the way of pregnancy termination (Kristensen 2013). Biopolitics are presumed to provide answers for this thesis in so far, as the concept offers explanations for the rationale applied to justify the foremost meaning and value of all life and the management and safeguarding of the population as the central body of the nation state. It puts pregnancy termination in relation to historical contingencies in Germany which aim at controlling and modifying all life via health policies in the interest of the government and dominant political actors. It is expected to enable the detection of a clear coherent line between the argumentation of supporters of restricted abortion policies and the governmental structures and policies regarding pregnancy termination in Germany focusing on unborn life, as well as advocates of liberal abortion policies pushing for the maternal living life. Both are expected to be closely informed by the key elucidations of biopolitics, health and population provided by Foucauldian post-structural theory. It can be expected to see an influential connection of biopolitical key aspects on scientific evidence and its incorporation in the discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. Based on Foucauldian post-structural theory the hypotheses are as follows:

H3: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany are influenced by biopolitical notions and apply biopolitical arguments to support their claim that all unborn life must be protected.

H4: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany use biopolitical arguments to inform their claim that the living maternal life stands above all other factors regarding pregnancy terminations.

#### 2.3.2. Feminist Post-structural Theory

Next, (Foucauldian) post-structural theory is extended by incorporating theoretical feminist key aspects. Feminist post-structural theory is explained, then relevant concepts are applied to pregnancy termination in Germany, and the answers this theory is expected to provide in this thesis are elaborated.

Feminist theoretical concepts add onto post-structural theory by incorporating central feminist values studying the place of independent discourses and historical patriarchal contingencies in the preservation of power and domination structures which push women and queer people into a narrow system of heteronormative standards of gender and sex. The interrelations between language or discourse, power, and subject and their influence on the place of women in society are key for feminist post-structural theory (Schmidt 2001). In this sense, feminist theorists study limitations and restrictions of women due to the ongoing repetition of patriarchal values and their influence on all aspects of life to deconstruct critical hierarchies, but also suggest and explain emancipatory progressive practices to highlight already-

existing progress and ways to move equality, freedom, and self-determination for all forward. Furthermore, feminist post-structural theory aspires to offer practical applications of its theoretical framework and implement lasting change in domination relations between men and women, which up to now structurally subordinate women (Maltry 1998). Patriarchy is an ideological construct subordinating women and queer people below men. Patriarchal notions can be understood as structural oppression of women and queer people on economic, political, cultural, and social levels. Masculine and feminine heteronormative stereotypes are pushed upon all individuals within a society. These stereotypes are applied to strengthen existing domination and power structures. Patriarchy and the enaction of patriarchal values exploit women's labour, fertility, sexuality, their place in the private, public, work, and societal sphere (Rawat 2014). Emancipatory values on the contrary can be seen as values focusing on the liberalisation of people and individuals of any system of dominance and oppression (Smyth 2020). In the context of this thesis emancipatory values such as indispensable and full self-determination of women over their body are central. For pregnancy termination post-structural feminist theory offers an explanation on how dominant and hegemonial thought patterns and policies come into existence and how emancipatory advances counter those. Civil society is foremost seen as a battlefield in which different actors want to control societal reality. Hegemonial reality is created as the result of an articulatory practice between actors who use and influence discourses in a continuous linguistic, institutional, and interactive generation of meaning (Wilde 2014).

Agency is key to understand pregnancy termination discourse. Relevant actors in Germany include opinion-making groups such as newspaper agencies, political parties, institutions such as churches, and interest groups or organisations and individuals including medical organisations, ethical councils, political and societal groups supporting either liberal or restricted pregnancy termination options. It is possible to argue that all these actors have varying interests, agency or impact, motivations and opinions on pregnancy termination while trying to maintain or gain influence on the policy-making process and the overall discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. The detection of their exact role is part of the analysis section of this thesis.

The theoretical outline of this thesis until now already suggested a necessary interplay of EBP theory and post-structural theory, of evidence and values, to comprehensively study the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. Feminist post-structural theory also argues that nothing is objectively given, and all experience and (empirical) knowledge is manufactured and interpreted by social and cultural practices (Hark 2001).

In relation to pregnancy termination in Germany, feminist post-structural theory offers insights in the contestation of the discourse on pregnancy termination and the varying actors trying to influence societal reality. In addition to Foucauldian post-structural theory, it is possible to put the historical marginalisation of women to the centre of interest. Feminist post-structural theory enables to coherently study influential varying values by different actors and their relation to evidence. It is expected to see patriarchal notions within the data about the discourses used by advocates of restrictive abortion policies,

emancipatory values by advocates of progressive pregnancy termination options and an overall clash of relevant contesting actors and a central outlook on the role existing power and domination structures play within the discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. Last, the final hypotheses can be set up in the following way:

H5: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany underpin their arguments by patriarchal values. Their dominant position in society and policymaking is being threatened by actors supporting liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany.

H6: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany, who are emancipatory driven, perceive the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany as restrictive and assign this circumstance to a structural subordination of women, and patriarchal dominant values.

### 3. Methodology

Following, the methodology underpinning this thesis and research is outlined. First, the case itself and case selection are described, second the method of data collection is stated and last the method of data analysis is presented.

#### 3.1. Case description and Case selection

The case under study in this thesis is the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany with a focus laid on the place and influence of scientific evidence and societal values. For this, qualitative research is conducted, as it enables the detailed and in-depth studying of structures and reasons behind the place of scientific evidence and values and their incorporation by actors who have interest in influencing the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany.

Following Bennett and Elman, selecting a case with clear historical connections enables accurate explanation of a current complex social and political world (Bennett & Elman 2006). Path dependence can be identified as a key feature for justifying the selection of the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. In the context of this thesis critical examination of various central values for the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany is possible, as values are hardly measurable by quantitative means and depend in the sense of path dependence on circumstances, historical contingencies, and societal structures. Seawright and Gerring also argue that a representative case is beneficial to generate meaningful, representative results. A single comprehensive case had to be selected (Seawright & Gerring 2008). The presented case of pregnancy termination is, as was already mentioned, debated since centuries in Germany on a political, societal, and legal level with progressive, yet seemingly limited movement, but also pushback, and limitations detectable. This contested structure of pregnancy termination and its discourse makes Germany an interesting case within countries of the global north. The German government embodies progressive politics within the European Union to external actors, but is ambivalent on the topic of pregnancy termination, compared to the discourse in

Poland where strong pushback is identifiable, or Sweden which is often referred to as best-practice of liberal abortion policies. Another factor identified is a "[...] useful variation on the dimensions for theoretical interest." (Seawright & Gerring 2008: 296). An argument for selecting Germany are the theories applied in this thesis and their perceived extensive answer possibilities for the wide variety of information and literature available, as pregnancy termination in Germany is politically and societally openly discussed and argued upon. Similarly, an abundance of contesting actors (see section 2.3.2) are identifiable which leads to a comprehensive display of opinions, values, and arguments.

Still, (selection) bias is without a doubt a serious problem that must be taken into consideration when selecting a case. However, it can be argued that the risks of bias can be outweighed and diminished by meeting methodological basics for case selection, such as the ones addressed above (Bennett & Elman 2006).

#### 3.2. Method of Data Collection

For this research, a wide variety of documents are analysed and studied. Looking at German abortion policies and laws will not lead to sufficient information, as there is only limited content conveyed. Central for this thesis is to study the complex discursive context of pregnancy termination policies. To detect values and the specific incorporation of scientific evidence, which inform debates on pregnancy termination in Germany, a wider picture must be drawn by going beyond laws and policies.

The main criterium for the selection of documents was that each document, first, addresses the topic of pregnancy termination in Germany by directly stating an opinion on the matter (see section 3.3.). Second, each document embeds that opinion in a wider discourse which leaves room for qualitative analysis. Third, each document somehow contains a line of argumentation that relies in the widest way on values and / or medical and biological evidence. Lastly, each document is not itself published as professional scientific research in for example peer-reviewed journals. Actors that are incorporated include medical groups and organisations, politically active organisations and groups, the catholic and protestant churches in Germany, the ethical council of Germany (Deutscher Ethikrat) and main political parties such as the Christlich-Demokratische Union (CDU), the Christlich-Soziale Union (CSU), the Greens (BÜNDNIS 90/ DIE GRÜNEN), the Lefts (Die LINKE) and the Alternative für Deutschland (AFD). These sources and documents were gathered by intensive online research and are all publicly available. During data collection, a focus was kept on gathering documents of all political orientations and opinions. A list of documents is included as data appendix. All documents are in German, as the case studied is Germany. Based on the actors that are presumed to be relevant, 43 documents, counting in total 830 pages were gathered. It was possible to allocate 20 documents of actors advocating a liberal stance on pregnancy termination in Germany compared to the current status quo (see section 1.), while 16 documents were gathered of actors advocating a restrictive discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany compared to the current status quo. Seven documents, all newspaper articles, showed a slight preference toward liberalisation of pregnancy termination, but also provided meaningful information on advocates of restrictive measures. These seven documents were classified during coding as providing information on both sides. It is possible to say that such thorough method of data collection promises extensive results and a detailed answer to the research question.

#### 3.3. Method of Data Analysis

The thesis elaborates on the connections and limitations of evidence and values within the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. To provide comprehensive answers, it is necessary to use a research approach which offers insights beyond content, while additionally raising critical questions challenging the status quo. For this purpose, a diagnostic qualitative research approach seems most suitable. CDA is understood as a method interested "[...] in the semiotic dimensions of power, injustice, and political-economic, social, or cultural change in society." (Wodak 2013: 301). As such, "CDA is characterized by the common interest in demystifying ideologies and power through the systematic and retroductable investigation of semiotic data [...]" (Wodak 2013: 302). It allows asking for more structural reasons for the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. In the case of this research, the semiotic data under study takes the form of written documents. By applying CDA, it is possible to look for hidden meanings within text on the basis of the three theoretical approaches used in this thesis. Additionally, it can be said, that CDA fits this thesis well, as especially Michel Foucault and hence Foucauldian post-structural theory, but also feminist post-structural theory can be considered central theoretical traditions in the emergence and establishment of discourse analysis within political science (Pedersen 2009). In relation to EBP, it can be said that CDA can offer insights into the reasons for the usage of evidence in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. It is possible to argue that varying appliances of evidence in the discourse on pregnancy termination might relate to values.

To systematically analyse data, a coding system was established, and three main aspects can be distinguished. The three theoretical approaches of this thesis are taken as basis and building onto those, the following six-dimensional coding scheme was developed with which all documents are systematically analysed using the software ATLAS.ti.

<b>Coding Scheme</b>	Theory	Concept	Code
Dimension			
A. Biological	Evidence-based	Biological Evidential	basic research on human
scientific	Policy Theory	Values	biology;
Evidence			human embryo development;
			discussions on when life
			actually starts
B. Medical	Evidence-based	Medical Evidential	clinical research on pregnancy
scientific	Policy Theory	Values	termination;
Evidence			

			epidemiological research on
			maternal dangers and deaths;
			research on health- and
			abortion policies across the
			world
C. Biopolitics	Foucauldian Post-	Biopolitical Values	value of new generations;
and Unborn Life	structural Theory		protection of life;
			present state and future of the
			(German) population;
			higher birth-rate;
			reference to laws in relation to
			unborn life
D. Biopolitics	Foucauldian Post-	Biopolitical Values	securing the female
and Maternal	structural Theory		population;
Life			value of women's health
E. Patriarchal	Feminist Post-	Patriarchal Values	(traditional) family structures/
Frame	structural Theory		traditionalism;
			protection of the weak;
			emphasis of church values;
			emphasis on differences
			between men and women;
			freedom of a specific group
F. Emancipatory	Feminist Post-	Emancipatory Values	autonomy;
Frame	structural Theory		women's choice;
			(political and societal) change
			liberation

Table 1: Coding system

By looking for these codes, it is expected to find both biological and medical evidence as relevant, but incorporated differently, depending on values about pregnancy termination. It can be presumed that pregnancy termination in Germany is mostly an ethical topic led by values and power structures. Biopolitical values are expected to be detected within supporters and opponents of liberal pregnancy termination options and based on their orientation influence whose life and health is deemed relevant and must be protected, and thus influence their argumentation based in that. It is also possible to expect that patriarchal values put women in a weaker position, compared to men and disregard their ability to make thoughtful and reflected decisions on their own. Opposed to that, it can be presumed that such dominant societal structures do not go uncontested, but that a constant battle for control takes place within the political and societal spheres. Last, it can be anticipated to conclude that it is not possible to

categorise evidence about pregnancy termination in right or wrong, or more and less relevant, but that evidence ends up being instrumentalised by values.

# 4. Analysis

The following analysis is split into four main sections with the first three providing answers to each of the hypotheses developed based on each theoretical framework and the last one conveying reflective insights on the analytical findings. In detail, sections 4.1. to 4.3. analyse the standpoints on pregnancy termination in Germany of the actors identified in sections 2.3.2. and 3.2. At the beginning of presenting the results for hypotheses one and two, a short overview is provided of relevant actors advocating either liberal or restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany that were found during the research process. The goal of this analysis is to show the role of societal values and their influence on the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, while simultaneously analysing the place medical and biological evidence has.

#### 4.1. Evidence-based Policy Theory

In section 2.2. the following hypothesis with a focus laid on actors advocating restrictions on pregnancy termination in Germany, was developed based on EBP theory. At this point results are presented to analyse H1.

H1: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany use and interpret biological scientific evidence based on their values to legitimise their claims.

It can be said that conservative actors can be aligned with advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options and discourse in Germany. It is possible to identify the German catholic church and catholic church organisations and groups, as well as the AFD, CSU and CDU among political parties, an abundance of authors of newspaper articles and opinion pieces (e.g., Lojewski 2000), and medical groups in the form of published opinions by doctors (e.g., Overdick-Gulden 2012) or counselling staff for pregnant women (e.g., Stiftung Ja zum Leben 2020a) as relevant and influential. It becomes evident that the more conservative the actor on the political axis the more restriction of abortion policies is demanded. The document analysis found that biological scientific evidence is indeed used by such conservative actors to develop their claims that pregnancy termination should be highly restricted or forbidden – depending on their respective specific political standing – as unborn life must be protected. The documents under study in this thesis provided the insight that conservative actors refer to reproductive biology to state that human life and *human embryo development* starts with the merging of egg and sperm. Aktion Lebensrecht für Alle e.V. (ALFA e.V.) elaborates: "Humans with all their unique

characteristics [...] are created during conception. [...] that regardless of the size or development of the child, it is human from the beginning." (ALFA e.V. n.d.:1).<sup>3</sup>

It can be found that most conservative actors advocating restrictive abortion policies refer to church values during their biological argumentation or indeed have a direct link to the German catholic church. The detailed role of church values in the context of the discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany is outlined in section 4.3, but at this point it can be stated that the code *emphasis of church values* was detectable in all documents which mentioned codes of the coding scheme dimension A on biological evidence. For example, the CDU mentions in their basic party program that "The inviolable dignity of a human as God's creature is not accessible to human disposal and must be protected [...]. Life that has not yet been born requires our special protection starting with the fusion of the sperm and egg cell [...]" (CDU 2007: 75). Similarly, the biopolitical code protection of life of the coding scheme dimension C, was as well traceable in all documents of conservative actors using the above-mentioned biological evidence to demand restrictions to pregnancy terminations in Germany. In this case the AFD emphasises monetary incentives and "[...] advocates a welcoming culture for new and unborn babies. [...] Women [...] need to be offered financial and other help before and after the delivery so that they choose their child." (AFD 2016: 44). These two values (emphasis of church values and protection of life) were the two most detectable codes in documents of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany.

Given this analytical outcome H1 is relatively well-supported. Codes of biological evidential origin were among the least found codes during the research process. At times when codes of dimension A of the coding scheme were detectable, however they were mostly connected with and informed by the values *emphasis of church values* and *protection of life*. The biological standpoint furthermore depends on the interpretations of the actors which seem mainly based on their incorporated basic values. Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany use and interpret biological scientific evidence based on their underlying values to legitimise their claims.

Interestingly, it can be stated that actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options and discourse in Germany, also selectively use biological evidence to justify their claims but with a different outcome. Inter alia Partei der Humanisten draws on biology to argue that

[...] it has been scientifically proven that a foetus can perceive pain as such from around the 24th week of pregnancy at the earliest [...]. At this point in foetal development, there can be no talk of a 'consciousness'. [...] The demand to grant the foetus, which is unable to survive outside the womb, a right to life [...] seems correspondingly absurd. (Partei der Humanisten 2019:4).

It is striking to see that different evidence on the same topic, which is both biologically correct leads to two very varying political agendas and results on when human life starts and the extent of demands of restricting or liberating abortion policies. Biological evidence seems to be unable to provide an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As all information is originally provided in German, all direct quotes used in this analysis, are direct translations of the German original to English.

irrevocable truth on when human life starts, as there is a difference apparent between biological embryonal development and human consciousness. This supports that indeed other factors influence the actors on which biological standpoint to take and emphasise.

# H2: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany frame medical scientific evidence in line with their values to legitimise their claims.

The second hypothesis emphasises a connection of actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany with a different source of evidence. To begin with, actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany include organisations affiliated with the German protestant church (e.g., Evangelische Frauen in Deutschland e.V. (EFID e.V.) 2004), whereas the protestant church itself argues to support the current legal status quo and focuses rather on reducing societal stigma around women terminating pregnancies. Additionally, the parties BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN and Die LINKE, as well as the German ethical council, political activist organisations (e.g., Stokowski 2019), affected doctors that were legally charged with violating the current abortion laws (e.g., EFID e.V. 2021) and a selection of state-approved consultation centres (e.g., pro familia 2018) can be identified.

The CDA showed that all codes and contexts related to coding scheme dimension B were among the six least concepts coded for. At this point, this suggests that other aspects seem of greater importance to actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options and discourse in Germany, especially considering that the density of codes ranges from 14 (lowest) to 82 (highest). It can be said that, opposed to the expectations outlined before in this thesis, no information was gathered on research and the role of maternal deaths in Germany within the current discourse on pregnancy termination. Based on the information provided in section 2.2. of this thesis, it can only be assumed that a lack of emphasis on maternal deaths in Germany in the current discourse is due to the legal situation, which limits pregnancy termination, but does effectively not prohibit it, leading to certain pregnancy termination options after all for affected women. Still, for example, Diehl shows that endangerment of women grounded on insufficient medical personnel, societal stigma, legal obstacles, or (sexual) assault are factors that must be considered (Diehl 2019). A main medical argument offered by actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany is that

[...] prohibitions and restrictions on pregnancy termination hardly contribute to lowering the number of pregnancy terminations, but merely shift practice into a societal grey area. As a result, pregnancy terminations get increasingly unsafe [...]. A joint study by the World Health Organization and the Guttmacher Institute in 2017 showed a significant connection between the legal status of abortion and unsafe pregnancy terminations. (Krolzik-Matthei 2019: 4).

Due to various possible viewpoints on medical evidence – and which evidence is deemed relevant and scientific – it can be assumed that the specific contextual use of medical evidence depends on the values of the actors. For example, EFID e.V. relate medical issues to patriarchal values: "[...] it is considerably more difficult for women to make an informed and self-determined decision about an abortion. While

in other areas [...] measures are supported that strengthen people's education and freedom of choice, this is not the case with women's reproductive rights and sexual self-determination." (EFID e.V. 2021: 1). "In a social climate in which abortion is tabooed and people associated with it are stigmatised or openly threatened and pressured, more and more medical professionals are deciding not to offer abortions." (Krolzik-Matthei 2019: 8). However, such an argumentative connection was rarely found within the documents of actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany under study. At this point, it is possible to conclude three things. First, the medical aspects applied differ from the ones that were expected. Second, medical scientific evidence seems to be of less relevance for actors advocating liberal pregnancy. Third, when mentioned, it is seldomly linked with values to support their agenda. It can be concluded that H2 is ill-supported, with some very rare exceptions observable.

Interestingly, and similar to the results of H1, it was discovered that medical aspects and concerns were also applied by actors advocating for restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany. The main concern mentioned was post-abortion-syndrome (PAS) which suggests that pregnancy terminations strain women's mind and conscience lastingly (Christdemokraten für das Leben e.V. (CDL e.V.) 2001). Diehl counters:

In fact, the PAS is not recognised as a clinical picture by a single scientific institution worldwide. [...] According to the APA, abortions do not have a negative impact on women's mental and physical health. On the other hand, having to carry an unwanted pregnancy to term could very well trigger trauma. (Diehl 2019: 3).

#### 4.2. Foucauldian Post-structural Theory

Next, hypotheses three and four are tested. These hypotheses create a relation between actors advocating either restrictive or liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany and Foucauldian post-structural theory.

H3: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany are influenced by biopolitical notions and apply biopolitical arguments to support their claim that all unborn life must be protected.

It was possible to detect a lot of references to biopolitical claims within the argumentations of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options and discourse in Germany. For instance, the most detectable code in all documents under study was *protection of life* and the fourth-most was *present state and future of the (German) population*. Following that, conservative actors incorporate biopolitics within their claims majorly. In the AFD basic party program, central argumentative references, regarding children, the state, health policies and families were backed by biopolitical incentives. In several cases, the AFD highlights the so-called German population, differentiated from people who are not part of that, and how to support it (AFD 2016). In relation to pregnancy termination, children and families are seen as central pillars. "The undesirable demographic developments in Germany must be

counteracted. [...] mass migration is not a suitable means for this. Rather, by means of an activating family policy, a higher birth-rate among the local population must be achieved as the only viable solution in the medium and long term." (AFD 2016: 40). Additionally, the AFD "[...] opposes all attempts to trivialise abortions, to support abortions on the part of the state or even to declare them a human right." (AFD 2016: 44). Inter alia Drobinski also depicts that the catholic church has a history of using biopolitical notions to inform their demand to restrict pregnancy terminations and abortion laws: "In 2005 the Pope from Poland compared abortion to the Shoah; [...] Joseph Ratzinger also equated abortion and murder." (Drobinski 2018: 1). An emphasis on protecting all unborn life, and not a certain selection, can be seen in biopolitical emphasis of the indivisible value of new generations. The association CDL e.V. suggests that pregnancy terminations should as well be prevented when the child was conceived through sexual abuse and rape. "Nevertheless, the child thus conceived is an independent person who is not to blame for the crime [...] what right do you have to kill the innocent child who is not involved in the crime?" (CDL e. V. 2001: 14). Lastly, it was evidential that advocates of restrictions on pregnancy terminations in Germany often show reference to laws in relation to unborn life as past or current abortion laws which restrict pregnancy terminations and build their argumentation onto justified state intervention. Overdick-Gulden mentions that based on article 1 German Basic Law the human dignity of all, also unborn life is unimpeachable. The author grounds this in historic legal developments: "When the Basic Law was passed on May 8th, 1949, the scope of the 'right to life' (Article 2 GG) included the 'germinating' human life [...] which has been confirmed several times by later decisions of the Federal Constitutional Court, such as 1993 [...]" (Overdick-Gulden 2012: 1).

Based on these results, it can be concluded that H3 is well-supported and actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany indeed are influenced by biopolitical notions and apply biopolitical arguments to support their claim that all unborn life must be protected.

# H4: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany use biopolitical arguments to inform their claim that the living maternal life stands above all other factors regarding pregnancy terminations.

Moving on, the second hypothesis of the Foucauldian post-structural theoretical framework will be elaborated. Hypothesis four concerns the use of biopolitical arguments by actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany. First, it is possible to say that claims informed by and based on biopolitical notions are made by actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany. In particular, an emphasis is put on the *value of women's health*, which is strongly promoted. Die LINKE draws a connection between historical detectable traditional gender relations in all aspects of life, e.g., the long-debated rights to vote or to work and argues that "[...] the old gender constellations continue to have an impact on the organization of reproductive work." (Die LINKE 2011: 18). "Multiple stresses cannot be individualised." (Die LINKE 2011: 20). Women's health must be pushed in the focus of the current societal and political discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, as unwanted pregnancies and giving birth, as well as not sufficient information and medical personnel to terminate a pregnancy,

put unnecessary physical strains on the bodies of women and can cause trauma. Opposed to argumentations of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options and their emphasis on PAS, studies have shown that the greatest stress women with unwanted pregnancies face, is stress because of insecurity if, and when a pregnancy termination would be possible (Diehl 2019). Instead of protecting all life, a focus should be laid on the quality of wanted life once birthed and the securing of the women's and child's economic and health future as governmental goals. "Life is considered a value in itself; anti-abortion opponents are usually far less interested in its quality [...]" (Partei der Humanisten 2019: 5). Furthermore, "[...] the search for doctors terminating pregnancies is difficult in some regions of the Federal Republic. It is above all this information deficit that must be compensated for with a reform [...]" (Hassenkamp 2019: 1) This is seen as a health issue and a dangerous supply gap the German state currently faces.

Such claims are backed by the idea of an *intersectional state as the future* (see section 4.4.). This goal is based upon the argument that e.g., "[...] section 219a of the Criminal Code was introduced as a crime as part of the national socialist criminal law reform in 1933." (EFID e.V. 2021: 3). Hence, a legal and discursive change of direction is appropriate to process and recondition Germanys approach to pregnancy termination detached from such problematic thinking. Notably, BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN demand an incorporation of marginalised groups. "People are different, but their rights and dignity are the same. A diverse, non-discriminatory, equal and inclusive society means democratic progress for all." (BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN 2020: 52).

All in all, H4 is well-supported, as actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options and discourse in Germany apply biopolitical arguments to support maternal and women's lives. Still, a slight dissonance is identifiable, as biopolitical values regarding women are presented, yet a trade-off between different opinions and values is acknowledged. In this regard, it is interesting to detect that opposed to the expectations and the phrasing of H4, women's lives are not put above all other factors and aspects. Weighting of varying aspects, facts, and opinions is suggested. Arguments of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options are and will always be located in a field of tension contrasting autonomy and health of women (Deutscher Ethikrat n.d.). Additionally, and opposed to the results of H3 and assumptions of section 2.3.1, women's lives are not more connected to the population as a whole, but rather treated in an individualised manner.

#### 4.3. Feminist Post-structural Theory

This section offers an analysis of the source material to assess the fifth and sixth hypotheses. These hypotheses draw on feminist post-structural theory and deal with actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options and their incorporation and usage of patriarchal values as well as actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options and their incorporation and usage of emancipatory values.

H5: Actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany underpin their arguments by patriarchal values. Their dominant position in society and policymaking is being threatened by actors supporting liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany.

To begin with, it is of interest to state that two patriarchal values (emphasis of church values and freedom of a specific group) have the second and third highest density out of all codes used in this thesis. As was already mentioned in section 4.1., the incorporation of church values is significantly relevant for conservative actors in their current advocation of restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany. This can be backed by the result, that it was detected in 14 out of the 16 documents of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options under study. It is striking to see that a focus on church values was often connected to supporting marginalised groups in a way of liberation. To enable understanding for such liberation notions, the additional code *conservative liberation* (see section 4.4.) was introduced during the beginning of the document study. The CDU mentions that "[...] the human is created by God in his own image. [...] The dignity of all people is the same, regardless of gender, skin colour, nationality, age, [...] disability, health [...]. Human dignity - including the unborn and the dying - is inviolable." (CDU 2007: 7). Later, liberation understood as conservative liberation, and opposed to emancipatory liberation, was also made apparent by introducing policy demands that make the starting of a traditional family easier and more appealing to women by creating monetary benefits that childless people are excluded from. "Families with children have to be in a better tax position than those without children. [...] In addition, targeted incentives must be set so that parents decide to have several children." (CDU 2007: 32). Conservative liberation as a patriarchal value could as well be detected in calls for more educational work which highlights the right to life of the unborn. It

[...] can be strengthened by information and education work. In this way a growing number of people - women and men - could gain the conviction: It is not my place, and that is why I am forbidden to offend other human life in the form of unborn life. (Evangelische Kirche in Deutschland (EKD) n.d.: 8).

Continuously, the patriarchal value *freedom of a specific group* was identifiable in 13 out of 16 of the documents under study and accordingly offers nearly as much insight and importance as the value *emphasis of church values*. In all cases of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany, the freedom to self-determination, and protection from heteronomy of the foetus is superordinated above women's autonomy, and the freedom of choice over a women's own body (EKD n.d.). Furthermore, ALFA e.V. speaks of a questionable right of autonomy of women, as an "[...] abortion [...] is a deliberate act of killing a child before it is born." (ALFA e.V. n.d.: 1).

At this point, it can be finalised that actors, advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options in Germany, indeed underpin their arguments by patriarchal values, especially the emphasis of church values and a focus on freedom of a specific group, mainly the unborn life in this context. Regarding the presumption that dominant actors are threatened in their central discursive role in Germany, as suggested by feminist post-structural theory, no indication was found in the context of pregnancy termination.

However, the research has unveiled certain phrasings applied by conservative actors, which put the assumption close that a wish to protect a certain current status quo of society is apparent. For instance, the AFD mentions that wearing a hijab must be prohibited and does not fit the German liberal culture (AFD 2016). It remains highly unlikely though that conclusions can be drawn from this for the discursive battle on pregnancy termination in Germany.

H6: Actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany, who are emancipatory driven, perceive the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany as restrictive and assign this circumstance to a structural subordination of women, and patriarchal dominant values.

Last, the final and sixth hypothesis is analysed based on the outcomes of the document analysis. Overall, all codes of the emancipatory framework can be situated in the lower third to the middle regarding density of codes (26 to 43). A central focus of actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination possibilities in Germany, was found to be promoting change from and offer critique on stigma and patriarchal values (see section 4.4.). This code was discovered during the coding process and enabled analysing critique on actors who work to maintain or worsen the status quo from an emancipatory viewpoint, and on one-sided discursive structures which influence the societal and political perception of making advances to perceive the limiting of women's full autonomous decision-making in the matter of pregnancy termination as socially acceptable. On several occasions Die LINKE mentioned in their basic party program the need to overcome patriarchal structural subordination of women which, inter alia, is brought to the fore in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. Heteronormativity "[...] is tacitly regarded as a benchmark for political and social norms. This norm excludes." (Die LINKE 2011: 53). Furthermore, obligated counselling set in section 219 of the German Criminal Code, is perceived as an embodiment of patriarchal values, as "We don't want to trust women or forgive anything when it comes to their sexuality and childbearing ability. [...] We do not want to acknowledge that the women concerned are the most competent experts in this situation, who can oversee the consequences of motherhood that only they have to bear." (Diehl 2018: 2). Deutscher Ethikrat also argues that "The debate is still influenced by religious and cultural values, even though these no longer provide a generally binding normative point of reference in a pluralistic society." (Deutscher Ethikrat n.d.: 1). In this context, actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options in Germany also reason that the reference of actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options to current abortion laws and article 1 of German Basic Law (see section 4.2.) depend on interpretations based on patriarchal understandings. "The concept of human dignity in the Basic Law is not designed statically. It only defines and develops in interaction with social values, which in turn are subject to change over time." (Taupitz 2009: 4).

Another relevant demand, following the intersection of the codes *(political and societal) change* and *autonomy*, that reoccurs regularly is the deletion of sections 218 to 219b of the German Criminal Code. "The right to self-determination about one's own body and one's own life must apply without restriction to all people, especially women [...]. It also includes self-determined abortions that have no place in the

Criminal Code [...]" (BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN 2020: 56). This is justified by a call for necessary *liberation* and decriminalisation to improve protection "[...] for those affected [...] against criminal offenses, in particular insults, verbal abuse, threats and that these persons in particular are protected from discrimination." (Pro Choice Deutschland 2021a: 2). De-stigmatisation is only possible if pregnancy terminations are not understood as a crime anymore. Additionally, it could lead to important changes of societal perceptions of women's health and help generate productive exchange on issues such as miscarriage or postnatal depression (Diehl 2019).

Given these results, it is observable that emancipatory actors perceive the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany as restrictive and clearly assign this circumstance to a structural subordination of women, and patriarchal dominant values. A focus, opposed to the original assumptions of this thesis, is laid on displaying criticism on current conservative actors and values. This overall outcome as well matches the results of previous H1 and H3 which both show the central role varying values play in this context. Concluding, H6 is also well-supported.

#### 4.4. Reflection

This reflection section depicts four codes that were found missing in the initial research design and added at the beginning of the research and coding process to enhance the gathering of results. Other relevant aspects of the research design that are not directly used in this analysis, are discussed as part of the conclusion of this thesis.

First, it was apparent that a differentiation between church values and Christian values was necessary. Church values were from that discovery on understood as values connected to Christian beliefs such as *God*, or *creation*, and Christian values as basic values of Christianity such as *showing kindness* or *being accepting*. This distinction was made based on the documents under study by the German catholic church and the German protestant church. The protestant church in Germany and protestant church actors especially differentiate between these two types of values, while the catholic church and its actors mainly always speak of Christian values, even though a distinction is apparent in their texts. For instance, Bischof Lehmann states that no reference or orientation on how to deal with pregnancy termination is found in the bible, and then builds the position of the German catholic church on the early handle of the first Christian and catholic communities (Bischof Lehmann 1991). It becomes apparent that not Christian values are lean on to support the conservative viewpoint of the German catholic church, but rather the values of the first catholic church organisations. For this, the code *emphasising Christian values* was created.

Second, during coding of the documents of actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination discourse in Germany, it was also identifiable that opposed to the already created code of *present state and future of the (German) population* in the coding scheme dimension C, the code *intersectional state as future* was relevant. Especially, BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN (2020) emphasise the need for an intersectional outlook in their basic party program. Similarly, as was already mentioned in section 4.3, within documents related to advocating a restrictive discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, support for women and their rights, were often put to the forefront to push the agenda of the actors. Opposed to the understanding of women's rights in the emancipatory frame, this notion could be classified as *conservative liberation*, as its arguments were always limited to change the societal perception of women toward women feeling freer to bear more children and be happy in traditional family structures, without being exposed to pressure by feminist emancipatory values (e.g., CDL e. V. 2001).

Last, while analysing documents of actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination discourse in Germany, it was possible to see that these actors do not solely use the language of the emancipatory frame but offer critique on the language and codes shown in the patriarchal frame as well (e.g., Die LINKE 2011; Vorsamer 2019; Pro Choice Deutschland 2021b). Hence, the code *critique on stigma and patriarchal values* was added.

#### 5. Conclusion

To conclude this thesis, it can be said that a comprehensive picture on the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany was provided. At this point, the main research question can be answered in the following way.

What is the place of medical and biological scientific evidence, and societal values in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany?

To begin with, medical scientific evidence plays a minor role in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, as actors advocating liberal pregnancy termination options tend to utilise nonevidential aspects, such as biopolitical and emancipatory values and therefrom derived ethical and moral demands. As was already suggested, this might be attributable to the legal status in Germany, which currently ensures medically safe pregnancy terminations, even though barriers and burdens in several instances are imposed. Biological scientific evidence on the other side is applied in the societal discourse, not only by actors advocating restrictive pregnancy termination options, but, as was shown, also by actors advocating liberal possibilities. Two differing biological viewpoints on evidence of the same topic, allow the conclusion that the selective usage and incorporation of biological scientific evidence into the argumentation by both liberal and restrictive advocates, depends on other values.

This leads to the outcome that societal values, which were in this thesis studied as biopolitical, patriarchal, and emancipatory values, have the most prominent role in influencing the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany. Not only is the use of biological scientific evidence based on these values, but they also have the biggest impact apart from scientific evidence. It can be argued that the discourse on pregnancy terminations in Germany cannot be led by scientific evidence of neither medical nor biological scientific evidence. Rather moral and ethical implications, informed by the specific values the relevant actors have, are of central importance. Societal values are not only created

and upheld by the actors which influence the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, but it can be assumed, based on the understanding of discourse in this thesis, that societal values are contingent phenomena which vice versa influence the relevant actors in two detectable directions – either to advocate restrictive pregnancy termination options or to advocate liberal ones. This result paints, in line with feminist post-structural theory, indeed the picture of the German discursive society as a battlefield of actors for controlling and leading the discourse on pregnancy termination now and in the future. Interestingly, it can be observed that opposed to theoretical information of Parkhurst who linked pregnancy termination after all to EBP in section 2.2., non-evidential aspects are of way greater relevance for the discourse on pregnancy termination – at least in Germany.

It was shown that a lot of aspects are relevant in the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany and this thesis provides a meaningful overview and pertinent answer to the research question. However, providing an answer with practical implications and recommendations was, firstly, not the goal of this thesis, and secondly, is a highly complex, multilevel endeavour that can hardly be provided by scientific research. Based on the results of this thesis and the answer to the research question, it can be suggested though that the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany and research on it, is not about deciding on who is right or who is wrong, but rather on showing the differing ethical and moral standpoints and arguments and their current place. Therefore, further research could have a more detailed focus on these ethical and moral implications, based on the results this thesis provided on the place of medical and biological scientific evidence and societal values. Moreover, each aspect that was mentioned in the analysis that is of relevance for the current discourse on pregnancy termination in Germany, is a complex topic in itself. Following this, future research could provide in-depth insights on one or two influential aspects. Additionally, it would be interesting to see further incorporation of the points that were discovered to be missing in the research design during the research process. Those specific aspects are depicted at the end of this conclusion. Next, future comparable research would be of interest to, for example, see, whether scientific evidence has a different place in the discourse on pregnancy termination in other countries. Last, this thesis was not able to analyse the discourse on pregnancy termination with a central intersectional outlook. Studying this discourse, connected to people with an uterus and women outside heteronormative understandings, could support dissolving discriminatory contexts of queer existences.

Even though a lot of results were provided, the research question answered, and all hypotheses in depth analysed in a critically discursive way, several additional aspects surfaced, which made the high multilevel complexity of this topic apparent. In this context, the initial research design had some further noteworthy limitations apart from the ones that were mentioned in section 4.4. The remainder of this concluding section discusses three central findings.

First, the complexity of prenatal diagnosis, pre-implantation diagnostics, and the pre-birth discovery of children with fatal or not fatal disabilities and the critical societal values that influence perceptions such as whose unborn life is more valuable and liveable, was a central debated aspect within the documents

under study. This thesis, however, was not able to address this important *discourse on children with disabilities*, even though it is unquestionable of great relevance, as it can be argued that within the German society and political sphere prejudices and stigmatisation of people and children with disabilities still exist.

Next, of central interest is as well the finding that specific actors show *ambiguities in their adopted positions*. They cannot easily be categorised in advocating either liberal or restrictive discourses on pregnancy termination in Germany. Especially the CDU shows ambiguity as the party directly advocates restrictive abortion policies in its basic party program and calls for unlimited protection of all human life beginning with the merging of sperm and egg (CDU 2007), but in a proposal regarding countries of the global south of the CDU/CSU and the Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschland (SPD), they push for comprehensive reproductive health and autonomous decision-making on family-planning by women (Fraktionen der CDU/CSU und SPD 2020). In a similar way, the official statements by the German protestant church clash with other protestant church organisations. The protestant church in Germany officially supports the current legal status quo as the value of all life, including all unborn life as a gift of God must be protected, but acknowledges the problematics of stigma (EFID e.V. 2004). Opposed to this, the protestant church organisation EFID e.V., see all autonomy with the pregnant women and advocate full support and understanding of societal and church actors. They argue that a change of discourse and legality is necessary, focusing on preventive education and accessible information instead (EFID e.V. 2004).

Last, during coding, some further *relevant, yet not included concepts*, were discovered. For example, critique by actors advocating restrictive abortion laws on the emancipatory framework and what it stands for. For instance, the AFD basic party program criticises that women who choose to have children and do not work are less respected in the current German society, as emancipation-oriented actors assign less value to such decisions (AFD 2016). This concept became evident toward the end of the coding process and therefore was not added, as it would not have offered a comprehensive picture anymore in all documents under study. Moreover, some phrasing about and presentation of women and actors choosing to advocate liberal pregnancy termination options, can be seen critically. For example, scientific research on gender and patriarchal discriminatory structures is labelled as insufficient to meet scientific standards (AFD 2016) or actions of women terminating their pregnancies are described as intentionally killing their unborn child (e.g., Bischof Lehmann 1991; Ärzte für das Leben e.V. n.d.). Such notions were throughout analysing the documents, coded as *Freedom of a specific group* within the frame on Biopolitics and Unborn Life. Toward the end of coding, it was identifiable that an own code would have been beneficial due to an increasing amount of such argumentative notions.

Even though it is possible to say that the research design was incomplete, it still was extensive and detailed leading to the gathering of valuable information. It is arguable that a selection of what to focus on is necessary, as a fully comprehensive incorporation of all relevant aspects is hardly ever possible.

Similarly, the research design connected two different theoretical frameworks – evidence based policymaking and post-structuralism – and hence offered an interesting new approach within political science to the topic of pregnancy termination in Germany.

### **List of References**

- Adams, R. (2017). *Michel Foucault: Biopolitics and Biopower*. https://criticallegalthinking.com/2017/05/10/michel-foucault-biopolitics-biopower/
- Alternative für Deutschland. (2016). Programm für Deutschland: Das Grundsatzprogramm der Alternative für Deutschland. https://cdn.afd.tools/wpcontent/uploads/sites/111/2018/01/Programm AfD Online-PDF 150616.pdf
- Ärzte für das Leben e.V. (n.d.). *Rechtliches zum Schwangerschaftsabbruch: Gesetzliche Regelungen in der EU*. https://aerzte-fuer-das-leben.de/fachinformationen/schwangerschaftsabbruch-abtreibung/rechtliches/
- Beier, H. M. (2002). Der Beginn der menschlichen Entwicklung aus dem Blickwinkel der
  Embryologie. Zeitschrift für ärztliche Fortbildung und Qualitätssicherung, 96(6-7), 351–361.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/11168937\_The\_beginning\_of\_human\_development\_
  from the embryological viewpoint
- Bennett, A., & Elman, C. (2006). Qualitative Research: Recent Developments in Case Study Methods. Annual Review of Political Science, 9(1), 455–476. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.8.082103.104918
- Bischof Lehmann, K. (1991). Das Eintreten f
  ür das Lebensrecht des ungeborenen Kindes als christlicher und humaner Auftrag: Eröffnungsreferat bei der Herbstvollversammlung der Deutschen Bischofskonferenz. Deutsche Bischofskonferenz.
   https://www.dbk.de/fileadmin/redaktion/veroeffentlichungen/vorsitzender/VO 16.pdf
- Brown, S. (2013). Is counselling necessary? Making the decision to have an abortion. A qualitative interview study. *The European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care: The Official Journal of the European Society of Contraception*, 18(1), 44–48. https://doi.org/10.3109/13625187.2012.750290
- Bublitz, H. (2016). *Diskurstheorie: zur kulturellen Konstruktion der Kategorie Geschlecht*. 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-12500-4\_29-1
- Cairney, P., & Oliver, K. (2017). Evidence-based policymaking is not like evidence-based medicine, so how far should you go to bridge the divide between evidence and policy? *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-017-0192-x
- Center for Reproductive Rights. (2021). *Europe's Abortion Laws: A Comparative Overview*. https://reproductiverights.org/european-abortion-law-comparative-overview-0/

- Chesney-Lind, M., & Hadi, S. T. (2017). Patriarchy, Abortion, and the Criminal System: Policing Female Bodies. Women & Criminal Justice, 27(1), 73–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/08974454.2016.1259601
- Christlich-Demokratische Union. (2007). Das Grundsatzprogramm: Freiheit und Sicherheit. https://archiv.cdu.de/system/tdf/media/dokumente/071203-beschluss-grundsatzprogramm-6navigierbar\_1.pdf?file=1&type=field\_collection\_item&id=1918
- Cook, R. J., Dickens, B. M., & Bliss, L. E. (1999). International developments in abortion law from 1988 to 1998. American Journal of Public Health, 89(4), 579–586. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.89.4.579
- Evangelische Frauen in Deutschland e.V. (2004). Argumentations-und Arbeitshilfe zu Fragen des Schwangerschaftsabbruchs. https://evangelischefrauendeutschland.de/images/stories/218\_efd\_2004-web%201.pdf
- Faúndes, A., & Shah, I. H. (2015). Evidence supporting broader access to safe legal abortion.
  International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics: The Official Organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, 131, 56-59.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.03.018
- Finer, L., & Fine, J. B. (2013). Abortion law around the world: Progress and pushback. American Journal of Public Health, 103(4), 585–589. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301197
- Foucault, M., & Hurley, R. (2008). The History of Sexuality: The Will to Knowledge: Vol. 1. *Popular Penguins*. Penguin.
- Foucault, M., Senellart, M., Ewald, F., & Fontana, A. (2008). *The Birth of Biopolitics*. Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230594180
- Fraktionen der CDU/CSU und SPD. (2020). Engagement für die Globale Gesundheit ausbauen Deutschlands Verantwortung in allen Politikfeldern wahrnehmen: Antrag der Fraktionen der CDU/CSU und SPD. Berlin. Deutscher Bundestag. https://dip21.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/19/194/1919491.pdf
- German Basic Law. Article 1. https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/gg/art\_1.html
- German Basic Law. Article 2. http://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/gg/art\_2.html
- German Criminal Code. Section 218: Abortion. http://www.gesetze-iminternet.de/englisch\_stgb/englisch\_stgb.html#p1957
- German Criminal Code. Section 218a: Exemption from punishment for abortion. http://www.gesetzeim-internet.de/englisch\_stgb/englisch\_stgb.html#p1957

- German Criminal Code. Section 219: Counselling of pregnant woman in emergency or conflict situation. http://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/englisch\_stgb/englisch\_stgb.html#p1957
- German Criminal Code. Section 219a: Advertising abortion. http://www.gesetze-iminternet.de/englisch\_stgb/englisch\_stgb.html#p1957
- German Criminal Code. *The Embryo Protection Act (ESchG). Section 8: Definition.* https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/eschg/BJNR027460990.html
- Global Governance Programme. (2017). *Evidence-Based Policy-Making: from Data to Decision-Making*. Robert Schuman Centre. https://globalgovernanceprogramme.eui.eu/evidence-basedpolicy-making/
- Greenhalgh, T., & Russell, J. (2009). Evidence-based policymaking: A critique. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, *52*(2), 304–318. https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.0.0085
- Hark, S. (2001). Feministische Theorie Diskurs Dekonstruktion. In R. Keller (Ed.), Handbücher. Handbuch sozialwissenschaftliche Diskursanalyse. 353–371. Leske + Budrich. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-322-99906-1\_14
- Head, B. W. (2013). Evidence-Based Policymaking Speaking Truth to Power? Australian Journal of Public Administration, 72(4), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12037
- Hussein, J., Cottingham, J., Nowicka, W., & Kismodi, E. (2018). Abortion in Poland: Politics, progression and regression. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 26(52), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/09688080.2018.1467361
- iEdu Note (n.d.). Values: Definition, Characteristics, Importance, Types of Values. https://www.iedunote.com/values
- Kennedy, A. (2001). Abortion, Patriarchy, Neoliberalism. Studies: An Irish Quarterly Review, 90(358), 162–170. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30095455
- Kortendiek, B., Riegraf, B., & Sabisch, K. (Eds.). (2019). Geschlecht und Gesellschaft: Vol. 65. Handbuch Interdisziplinäre Geschlechterforschung. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-12500-4
- Kristensen, K. S. (2013). Michel Foucault on Bio-power and Biopolitics [Master's Thesis]. University of Helsinki, Helsinki. https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/10138/39514/Kristensen%20Masters%20Thesis.pdf
- Levels, M., Sluiter, R., & Need, A. (2014). A review of abortion laws in Western-European countries. A cross-national comparison of legal developments between 1960 and 2010. *Health Policy* (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 118(1), 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.06.008

- Losoncz, M., & Takács, Á. (2015). Biopolitics. In Have (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Global Bioethics*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05544-2\_58-1
- Maltry, K. (1998). Machtdiskurs und Herrschaftskritik im Feminismus. In P. Imbusch (Ed.), Macht und Herrschaft: Sozialwissenschaftliche Konzeptionen und Theorien. 299–316. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-663-10691-3\_17
- Miller-Keane Encyclopedia (n.d.). Pregnancy Termination. In *The Medical Dictionary*. https://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/Pregnancy+termination
- Overdick-Gulden, M. (2012). Literatur: Abtreibung Ein neues Menschenrecht? Gibt es ein Abtreibungsrecht? *Lebensforum*(104). https://aerzte-fuer-dasleben.de/fachinformationen/schwangerschaftsabbruch-abtreibung/literatur-zuschwangerschaft-schwangerschaftsabbruch/literatur-abtreibung-ein-neues-menschenrecht/
- Parkhurst, J. (2017). The Politics of Evidence: From evidence-based policy to the good governance of evidence. Routledge studies in governance and public policy. Taylor & Francis. https://www.worldcat.org/title/politics-of-evidence-from-evidence-based-policy-to-the-goodgovernance-of-evidence/oclc/954038001?ap=citavi
- Pedersen, O. K. (2009). *Discourse Analysis. Working Paper: Vol. 65*. Copenhagen Business School. https://www.worldcat.org/title/discourse-analysis/oclc/488634363?ap=citavi
- Rawat, P. S. (2014). Patriarchal Beliefs, Women's Empowerment, and General Well-being. *Vikalpa: The Journal for Decision Makers*, *39*(2), 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0256090920140206
- Saltelli, A., & Giampietro, M. (2017). What is wrong with evidence based policy, and how can it be improved? *Futures*, 91, 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2016.11.012
- Saundes, M. (2013). *Scientific evidence: What is it and how can we trust it?* https://phys.org/news/2013-07-scientific-evidence.html
- Schmidt, A. (2001). Poststrukturalistische Perspektiven. In B. Fritzsche, A. Schmidt, J. Hartmann, &
  A. Tervooren (Eds.), *Dekonstruktive Pädagogik: Erziehungswissenschaftliche Debatten unter poststrukturalistischen Perspektiven*. 269–280. Leske + Budrich; Springer Fachmedien. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-663-09575-0\_18
- Schweizerische Vereinigung für Straflosigkeit des Schwangerschaftsabbruchs. (n.d.). *Abtreibung Schwangerschaftsabbruch*. https://www.svss-uspda.ch/abtreibung/
- Seawright, J., & Gerring, J. (2008). Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research. Political Research Quarterly, 61(2), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912907313077
- Smyth, N. (2020). A genealogy of emancipatory values. *Inquiry*, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/0020174X.2020.1758766

Steph. (2021). What is Biopolitics? https://philonotes.com/index.php/2021/01/19/biopolitics/

- Sutcliffe, S., & Court, J. (2005). Evidence-Based Policymaking: What is it? How does it work? What relevance for developing countries? Overseas Development Institute. https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2005-11/apo-nid311114.pdf
- United Nations. (2014). Abortion policies and reproductive health around the world (Population studies). New York. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/policy/AbortionPolicies ReproductiveHealth.pdf
- United Nations Population Fund. (2014). International Conference on Population and Development Programme of Action: Twentieth Anniversary Edition. United Nations. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pubpdf/programme of action Web%20ENGLISH.pdf
- United Nations Population Fund. (2020). Accelerating the Promise: The report on the Nairobi Summit on ICPD25. United Nations. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pubpdf/Corrected\_Final\_copy\_2nd\_June\_2020\_UNFPA-NairobiSummitReport.pdf
- Wilde, G. (2014). Zivilgesellschaftsforschung aus Geschlechterperspektive. In A. E. Zimmer & R. Simsa (Eds.), Forschung zu Zivilgesellschaft, NPOs und Engagement. 209–227. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-06177-7 12
- Wodak, R. (2013). Concepts, history, theory. SAGE benchmarks in language and linguistics: Vol. 1. SAGE. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ruth-Wodak/publication/238105100\_DCA\_-\_Critical\_Discourse\_Analysis/links/0a85e535bc18f09787000000/DCA-Critical-Discourse-Analysis.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2021). *Abortion*. United Nations. https://www.who.int/health-topics/abortion#tab=tab\_3

# **Data Appendix**

- Aktion Lebensrecht für Alle e.V. (n.d.). *Abtreibung*. https://www.alfaev.de/themen/abtreibung/#toggle-id-9
- Alternative für Deutschland. (2016). Programm für Deutschland: Das Grundsatzprogramm der Alternative für Deutschland. https://cdn.afd.tools/wpcontent/uploads/sites/111/2018/01/Programm AfD Online-PDF 150616.pdf
- Anzlinger, J. (2019). Schwangerschaftsabbruch: Darum geht es beim 219a-Kompromiss. Süddeutsche Zeitung. https://www.sueddeutsche.de/politik/abtreibung-219a-gesetzentwurf-bundestag-1.4339500
- Ärzte für das Leben e.V. (n.d.). *Rechtliches zum Schwangerschaftsabbruch: Gesetzliche Regelungen in der EU*. https://aerzte-fuer-das-leben.de/fachinformationen/schwangerschaftsabbruch-abtreibung/rechtliches/
- Bähr, J. (2019). Studie zu Abtreibungen: Was erhofft sich Jens Spahn davon? Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung. https://www.faz.net/aktuell/feuilleton/debatten/studie-zu-abtreibungen-was-erhofftsich-jens-spahn-davon-16035903.html
- Bischof Lehmann, K. (1991). Das Eintreten f
  ür das Lebensrecht des ungeborenen Kindes als christlicher und humaner Auftrag: Eröffnungsreferat bei der Herbstvollversammlung der Deutschen Bischofskonferenz. Deutsche Bischofskonferenz. https://www.dbk.de/fileadmin/redaktion/veroeffentlichungen/vorsitzender/VO\_16.pdf
- BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN. (2020). "...zu achten und zu schützen Veränderung schafft Halt": Grundsatzprogramm BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN. https://cms.gruene.de/uploads/documents/20200125 Grundsatzprogramm.pdf
- Christdemokraten für das Leben e. V. (2001). *Grundsatzprogramm*. https://cdl\_online.net/uploads/pdf/cdl\_grundsatzprogramm.pdf
- Christlich-Demokratische Union. (2007). *Das Grundsatzprogramm: Freiheit und Sicherheit*. https://archiv.cdu.de/system/tdf/media/dokumente/071203-beschluss-grundsatzprogramm-6navigierbar\_1.pdf?file=1&type=field\_collection\_item&id=1918
- Christlich-Soziale Union. (n.d.). *Das CSU Grundsatzprogramm*. https://csugrundsatzprogramm.de/wp-content/uploads/CSU-Grundsatzprogramm-ES.pdf
- Degen, M. (2011). "Der Ethikrat ist gespalten": Neue Gesetzentwürfe zur Präimplantationsdiagnostik beraten. Deutschlandfunk. https://www.deutschlandfunk.de/der-ethikrat-istgespalten.676.de.html?dram:article id=28236

- Deutscher Ethikrat. (n.d.). *Schwangerschaftsabbruch*. https://www.ethikrat.org/themen/gesellschaftund-recht/schwangerschaftsabbruch/
- Deutsche Welle. (2016). Katholische Kirche: Papst Franziskus erlaubt Absolution nach Abtreibung. https://www.dw.com/de/papst-franziskus-erlaubt-absolution-nach-abtreibung/a-36466737
- Diehl, S. (2018). Schwangerschaftsabbruch: Vertraut den Frauen. Zeit Online. https://www.zeit.de/kultur/2018-09/schwangerschaftsabbruch-paragraf-218-moral-patriarchatabschaffung?utm\_referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ecosia.org%2F
- Diehl, S. (2019). Die Paragrafen 219 und 218 Strafgesetzbuch machen Deutschland zum Entwicklungsland. Aus Politik Und Zeitgeschichte, 2019(20). https://www.bpb.de/apuz/290804/die-paragrafen-219-und-218-strafgesetzbuch-machendeutschland-zum-entwicklungsland
- Die LINKE. (2011). *Programm: Programm der Partei DIE LINKE*. https://www.dielinke.de/fileadmin/download/grundsatzdokumente/programm\_formate/programm\_der\_partei\_ die\_linke\_erfurt2011.pdf
- Drobinski, M. (2018). Papst: Abtreibung ist wie Auftragsmord. *Süddeutsche Zeitung*. https://www.sueddeutsche.de/politik/kirche-papst-abtreibung-ist-wie-auftragsmord-1.4163996
- Evangelische Frauen in Deutschland e.V. (2004). Argumentations-und Arbeitshilfe zu Fragen des Schwangerschaftsabbruchs. https://evangelischefrauendeutschland.de/images/stories/218\_efd\_2004-web%201.pdf
- Evangelische Frauen in Deutschland e.V. (2021). Stellungnahme zu §219a StGB im Rahmen einer Verfassungsbeschwerde von Frau Kristina Hänel [Press release]. Berlin. https://evangelischefrauendeutschland.de/images/stories/efid/Positionspapiere/stellungnahme%20219a%20der%20efid.p df
- Evangelische Kirche in Deutschland (n.d.). Gott ist ein Freund des Lebens: Das ungeborene Leben im Mutterleib. https://www.ekd.de/gottistfreund\_1989\_freund6\_2.html
- Fraktionen der CDU/CSU und SPD. (2020). Engagement für die Globale Gesundheit ausbauen Deutschlands Verantwortung in allen Politikfeldern wahrnehmen: Antrag der Fraktionen der CDU/CSU und SPD. Berlin. Deutscher Bundestag. https://dip21.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/19/194/1919491.pdf
- Hassenkamp, M. (2019). Koalitionsentwurf zum Paragrafen 219a: Immerhin mehr Information. Spiegel. https://www.spiegel.de/politik/deutschland/paragraf-219a-immerhin-mehrinformation-kommentar-a-1250591.html

- Klinkhammer, G. (2003). Der Umgang mit vorgeburtlichem Leben: Regeln und Ausnahmen: Themen der Zeit. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt*, 2003(12), 554. https://www.aerzteblatt.de/archiv/39735/Der-Umgang-mit-vorgeburtlichem-Leben-Regeln-und-Ausnahmen
- Koschyk, M. (2017). Abtreibungsdebatte: Das Recht zu entscheiden: Abtreibungen in Deutschland. Deutsche Welle. https://www.dw.com/de/das-recht-zu-entscheiden-abtreibungen-indeutschland/a-37462777
- Krolzik-Matthei, K. (2019). Abtreibungen in der Debatte in Deutschland und Europa. Aus Politik Und Zeitgeschichte, 2019(20). https://www.bpb.de/apuz/290793/abtreibungen-in-der-debatte-indeutschland-und-europa?p=all
- Lojewski, G. von (2000). Der Kampf gegen das ungeborene Leben: Die Kehrseite der Selbstbestimmung heißt Rücksichtslosigkeit und Egoismus. *DIE WELT*. https://www.welt.de/print-welt/article500100/Der-Kampf-gegen-das-ungeborene-Leben.html
- Overdick-Gulden, M. (2012). Literatur: Abtreibung Ein neues Menschenrecht? Gibt es ein Abtreibungsrecht? *Lebensforum*(104). https://aerzte-fuer-dasleben.de/fachinformationen/schwangerschaftsabbruch-abtreibung/literatur-zuschwangerschaft-schwangerschaftsabbruch/literatur-abtreibung-ein-neues-menschenrecht/
- Partei der Humanisten. (2019). Das deutsche Abtreibungsrecht nicht so liberal, wie es sein sollte. https://www.diehumanisten.de/2019/05/25/das-deutsche-abtreibungsrecht-nicht-so-liberalwie-es-sein-sollte/
- Pro Choice Deutschland. (2021a). *Keine Kompromisse: §219a muss weg!* https://prochoice.de/#newsletter
- Pro Choice Deutschland. (2021b). Über Uns. https://pro-choice.de/ueber-uns/
- pro familia. (2018). 8 Fakten zum Schwangerschaftsabbruch in Deutschland. https://www.profamilia.de/fileadmin/publikationen/Fachpublikationen/Schwangerschaftsabbru ch/8\_Fakten\_zum\_Schwangerschaftsabbruch.pdf
- pro familia. (2019). *Kurzinfo: Schwangerschaftsabbruch nach Beratungsregel*. https://www.profamilia.de/fileadmin/publikationen/Erwachsene/mehrsprachig/Kurzinfo\_Schw angerschaftsabbruch Deutsch.pdf
- radioWelt (2020). *Das ewige Dilemma: 25 Jahre Neuregelung des §218*. BR24. https://www.br.de/nachrichten/deutschland-welt/streit-um-abtreibung-25-jahre-neuregelungdes-paragrafen-218,SC4L57r

- Spiegel (2019). Schwangerschaftsabbruch: Spahns Abtreibungsstudie bricht Kostenrekord. *Spiegel*. https://www.spiegel.de/gesundheit/schwangerschaft/jens-spahn-umstrittene-studie-zuabtreibungen-bricht-kostenrekord-a-1256900.html
- Stiftung Ja zum Leben (2020a). Stiftungsbrief. *Information Der Stiftung Ja Zum Leben*(73). https://jazum-leben.de/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Stiftungsbrief\_Nr.73.pdf
- Stiftung Ja zum Leben (2020b). Stiftungsbrief. *Information Der Stiftung Ja Zum Leben*(74). https://jazum-leben.de/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Stiftungsbrief\_Nr.74.pdf
- Stokowski, M. (2019). "Werbeverbot" für Abtreibungen: Warum spricht niemand über Gebärneid? *Spiegel*. https://www.spiegel.de/kultur/gesellschaft/abtreibungs-werbeverbot-warum-sprichtkeine-rueber-gebaerneid-a-1251628.html
- tagesschau (2019). *Werbeverbot für Abtreibung: Bundestag billigt 219a-Reform*. Das Erste. https://www.tagesschau.de/inland/werbeverbot-schwangerschaftsabbruch-103.html
- Taupitz, J. (2009). *Embryonenschutz und Stammzellforschung: Bioethik Dossier*. https://www.bpb.de/gesellschaft/umwelt/bioethik/33770/embryonenschutz
- Theo Blog. (2019). Vermeintlicher Schutz der sexuellen Selbstbestimmung. https://theoblog.de/vermeintlicher-schutz-der-sexuellen-selbstbestimmung/34341/
- Theo Blog. (2020). Bundesregierung übernimmt Forderungen der Abtreibungslobby. https://theoblog.de/bundesregierung-uebernimmt-forderungen-der-abtreibungslobby/35162/
- Vorsamer, B. (2019). Paragraf 219a: Die vermeintliche Lockerung ist ein deutliches Verbot. Süddeutsche Zeitung. https://www.sueddeutsche.de/politik/abtreibung-koalition-werbeverbot-1.4307602
- Wiesing, U. (1999). Ungeborenes Leben: Widersprüchliche Regelungen: THEMEN DER ZEIT: Aufsätze 96(49). https://www.aerzteblatt.de/archiv/20322/Ungeborenes-Leben-Widerspruechliche-Regelungen

# **Declaration of Own Work**

I, \_\_\_\_\_, confirm that the work for this bachelor thesis with the title:

was solely undertaken by myself and that no help was provided from other sources as those allowed. All sections of the paper that use quotes or describe an argument or concept developed by another author have been referenced, including all secondary literature used, to show that this material has been adopted to support my thesis.

Place / Date

Signature

Х

Anna-Marlen Brellochs